IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2009-CA-01166

DEVINEY CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, INC.,

APPELLANT

V.

DAVID SCOTT MARBLE,

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

BRIEF OF APPELLANT DEVINEY CONSTRUCTION COMPANY

W. Wayne Drinkwater (MSB (MSB)) Justin J. Peterson (MSB) BRADLEY ARANT BOULT CUMMINGS LLP One Jackson Place 188 East Capitol Street, Suite 400 Post Office Box 1789 Jackson, MS 39215-1789 Telephone: (601) 948-8000 Facsimile: (601) 948-3000

W. Hugh Gillon, IV (MSB
Upshaw Williams Biggers Beckham & Riddick
Post Office Box 9147
Jackson, MS 39286-9147
Telephone: (601) 978-1996
Facsimile: (601) 978-1949

INTRODUCTION

A Hinds County jury awarded Plaintiff David Scott Marble \$2.5 million based on his claim that Deviney was negligent while performing digging work for BellSouth Corporation ("BellSouth") at the worksite of his employer, Time Warner Cable ("Time Warner"). Marble's claim is that Deviney's negligence was the *sole* cause of his workplace accident, which resulted in lower back and neck problems that rendered him permanently and completely unable to work. The jury reached its verdict despite Marble's pre-accident medical history, which revealed extensive back and neck problems; despite the utter lack of medical evidence supporting Marble's asserted inability to work; and despite the fact that two *other* entities – Time Warner and BellSouth – both played roles with respect to the accident.

The trial was one of misdirection. Critical evidentiary and procedural errors distracted the jury from Marble's failures of proof and deprived Deviney of a fair trial. The trial became infected with error from the outset, when the Circuit Court ruled that no witness could be recalled to the stand, even if called adversely. The effect of this order-of-proof procedure – which apparently applies to *all* cases tried in Judge Green's courtroom – was to force Deviney to present its defense before Marble had made his own case. This deprived Deviney of any meaningful ability to respond to Marble's claims.

The Circuit Court then permitted Marble's expert testimony on damages without ever assessing its reliability, relevance, or foundation. Under this let-it-all-in approach, Marble's key damages expert was allowed to establish that his future-lost-income damages totaled up to \$2.6 million, even though that figure was belatedly disclosed and lacked any adequate support. The expert was permitted to assume that, but for the accident, Marble would have worked full-time up until the day he died; and that, because of the accident, he would be completely unable to work for the rest of his life. The former assumption lacked any scientific or statistical foundation. The latter assumption, which was based solely on Marble's say-so, was directly contrary to his treating physicians, both of whom testified that he was physically capable of working. Even the physician retained by Marble for trial conceded that he was capable of performing work activities.

Although the testimony of his treating physicians was critical, Marble was allowed to falsely – and freely – undermine the testimony by suggesting non-existent bias. The Circuit Court rejected Deviney's attempt to impeach Marble's falsehoods through an improper application of the "collateral source" rule.

These improper rulings enabled Marble to bolster his otherworldly claim for damages. But there is more. The Circuit Court's jury instruction rulings erroneously limited apportionment of fault only between Marble and Deviney, thus ignoring the involvement of Time Warner and BellSouth at the accident site. But for Time Warner's mistakenly cutting a BellSouth telephone line, it would have retained complete control of the site, and Deviney would have never been involved. Moreover, despite Time Warner's duty to provide Marble with a safe place to work, there was no evidence that it had conducted any safety check of the site before Marble's arrival. On the other hand, there *was* evidence that BellSouth performed work at the site after Deviney completed its work. Nevertheless, the jury was prevented from even considering the actions or inactions of Time Warner or BellSouth.

Whether considered individually or collectively, the Circuit Court's errors warrant a new trial.

2

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The issues presented by this appeal are as follows:

1. Whether the Circuit Court erred by admitting the testimony of Marble's expert economist without ever evaluating its relevance, reliability, or foundation, when that testimony was belatedly disclosed and lacked adequate support.

2. Whether the Circuit Court erred by imposing an order-of-proof procedure that mandated that no witness could be recalled to the stand, thus depriving Deviney of fairly presenting its case and responding to Marble's evidence.

3. Whether the Circuit Court erred by refusing Deviney's proffered verdict forms and related jury instruction, which would have allowed the jury both to consider Time Warner's duty to provide Marble with a safe place to work, and the apportionment of fault to Time Warner and BellSouth based on their actions and inactions at the accident site.

4. Whether the Circuit Court erred by relying on the "collateral source" rule to prevent Deviney from impeaching Marble with respect to his false testimony about a critical issue at trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Course Of Proceedings And Disposition In The Trial Court.

Plaintiff David Scott Marble ("Marble") filed suit against Deviney Construction Co., Inc. ("Deviney") in August 2007. Marble asserted a claim for negligence arising from a June 23, 2005 accident, which occurred while he was working for Time Warner Cable ("Time Warner"). (R. 4-8.)¹

Before trial, Deviney filed timely pretrial motions to exclude or limit the testimony of two of Plaintiff's damages experts: Dr. Glenda Glover ("Glover"), an economist, and Nathaniel Fentress ("Fentress"), a vocational rehabilitation expert. (R. 106, 211 (Glover); R. 208-09 (Fentress).) The Circuit Court denied one of the two motions regarding Glover, (T. 11, 18), but provisionally granted the other. (T. 17.) The Court declined to rule on the motion concerning Fentress until he was on the stand. (T. 27.) Over objection, the Circuit Court ultimately allowed each expert's testimony without ever ruling on its reliability. (T. 398-400, 409-10 (Glover); T. 488 (Fentress).) These experts were thus permitted to offer unreliable opinions; compounding the error, the opinions were admitted even though they had not been disclosed until less than two weeks before trial.² (R. 211-22 (Glover); R. 208-09, T. 19-25 (Fentress).)

The trial spanned five days, and included the testimony of 17 witnesses. (T. 3-6, 806-07.) At the outset of trial, and over Deviney's objection, (T. 32), the Circuit Court imposed the procedure on order of proof that it apparently imposes in *all* cases, ruling that a witness called by one party could not be re-called to the stand. (T. 30, 296.)

¹ The Clerk's papers are cited "R. ___." The trial transcript is cited "T. ___." Trial exhibits are cited "Ex. ___." Record excerpts are cited "R.E. ___."

Fentress's last supplemental report was not disclosed until April 29, 2009, five days before trial. (R. 208.) Glover's supplemental report was not prepared until April 22, 2009, over a year after her initial report. (R. 110, 214.) Her opinions were supplemented yet again *after* the second day of trial. (T. 395.)

In his case-in-chief, Marble called 14 of the 17 witnesses, including calling Deviney's fact witnesses and corporate representative as adverse witnesses. (T. 274-77, 316-17.) Under the Court's rule, Deviney was forced to conduct the entirety of its examinations of these witnesses at that time. (T. 298, 326.) Over the next two days, Marble called eight more witnesses, including himself. (T. 597.) These witnesses testified to matters to which Deviney would have responded; but because of the Court's order-of-proof ruling, Deviney was unable to address this testimony by re-calling any of the prior witnesses. (T. 738-39.) Deviney was left with only three witnesses to present its case-in-chief, only one of whom was called after Marble rested.³ (T. 807-08.)

The Circuit Court denied Deviney's motion for directed verdict. (T. 813-14.) Over objection, the Court refused Deviney's proffered verdict forms and a related jury instruction that would have allowed the jury to apportion fault to the other entities involved at the work site. (T. 854-58, 895-900, 909; R.E. 009-14.) Thus, Marble's case went to the jury solely on a theory of Deviney's negligence. (T. 924-25; *accord* 918-20.) The jury found Deviney 100% at fault, and returned a \$2.5 million verdict for Marble.⁴ (T. 968; R. 308.) Deviney's post-trial motion for JNOV or a new trial or remittitur was denied.⁵ (R.E. 006.) This timely appeal followed. (R.E. 007-08.)

• •;

³ Two of Marble's witnesses testified by deposition. (T. 806-07.) After the conclusion of the live testimony of Marble's witnesses, his case-in-chief was "suspend[ed]" so that Deviney could put on two witnesses before the deposition testimony was read to the jury. (T. 739-40.)

⁴ The jury initially left out the word "million" from the verdict form, but corrected the form to read "\$2.5 million" after the Court pointed out the omission. (T. 969.) That amount was exactly half of what was requested by Marble's coursel in closing argument. (T. 940.)

⁵ The Circuit Court denied the motion only two days after it was filed, and days before Marble filed his response. (*Compare* R. 311 *with* R. 327 *and* R. 328.)

II. Statement Of Facts.

Deviney is a Mississippi construction company. During the relevant time period, it routinely performed digging work for BellSouth Corporation ("BellSouth"), so that BellSouth could repair damaged telephone lines. (T. 300-02, 328-30.)

Marble is a Mississippi resident. In June 2005, he was 35 years old, and had been working for Time Warner for 17 years. (T. 598-99.) He worked the midnight to 9 a.m. shift, and his job primarily was to replace damaged or old cable with new cable. (T. 168-69.)

A. The County Line Road Project, And The Involvement Of Time Warner, BellSouth, And Deviney.

This dispute arises out of work performed in June 2005 in relation to a road widening project on County Line Road in Jackson/Ridgeland, Mississippi. (T. 169-70.) The project required the installation of new cable. Time Warner bored the new cable underneath the road, and dug a three-foot-square hole on the property of an adjacent apartment complex, so that the new cable running from the road could be spliced onto the old cable running from the buildings. (T. 169-71, 194-95, 199, 224.) Assuming no mistakes, this is an operation that Time Warner typically controls from start to finish. (T. 225.) This was not such an instance, however.

While Time Warner was doing its initial work, it accidentally cut a BellSouth telephone line. (T. 302-03.) BellSouth was informed, and on the morning of June 22, BellSouth called Deviney onto the scene in order to widen the hole with a back hoe so that BellSouth could repair the line. (T. 299-300, 328-30; R. 225.) Deviney routinely does such work for BellSouth, and BellSouth usually has a representative at the site to oversee the process, instructing Deviney as to the size of the hole, and when to stop digging. (T. 300-02, 329.)

Deviney employees arrived at the apartment complex property at approximately 10 or 11 a.m. that morning, and worked for three to four hours. (T. 290.) While performing its work,

Deviney unexpectedly dug up a 120-volt electrical wire that was buried approximately six inches underground. (T. 252, 261, 277-78.) After determining that the wire was not energized, Deviney contacted apartment complex personnel and was advised that the purpose of the wire – and what it ran to, if anything – was unknown. (T. 254-55, 279, 285, 305-06.) Even though the wire was "dead", Deviney covered the exposed ends of the electrical line with two pieces of PVC pipe, sticking the pipe straight down into the ground. (T. 306, 315.)

Deviney's employees left the scene at 2:00–2:30 p.m. (T. 290.) Under standard practice, Deviney cannot leave a work site until BellSouth has approved Deviney's work, at which point BellSouth enters the hole to make the telephone line repairs. (T. 301-02, 329-30.) Deviney's general manager and corporate representative testified that, based on photographic evidence from the following morning, he was confident that BellSouth had, in fact, repaired its line. (T. 331-32; Exs. P-2-A, P-2-B; *see also* T. 173-74, 182, 214, 228.)

Unbeknownst to Deviney, the electrical line that it had accidentally dug up supplied power to outside lighting at the apartment complex. Also unknown to Deviney, the lighting was on a timer that energized the line at night. (T. 237, 320.) There was nothing to place Deviney on notice of these facts.

B. Time Warner Dispatches Marble To The Scene At Night, Without First Conducting Any Inspection Of Its Work Site.

Shortly after midnight on that same night, Time Warner sent Marble and his co-worker, Vic Hollifield, to the work site. They were to enter the hole that had been dug, and splice the new cable onto the old cable. (T. 169-70, 175, 604.) Under normal circumstances, Time Warner does not conduct a safety check of a work site prior to the arrival of its night shift workers. (T. 195-96.) There was no evidence that Time Warner had done a safety check in this instance. (*Id.*)

Marble and Hollifield drove to the apartment complex separately, each in his own Time Warner bucket truck. (T. 170, 200, 676.) They arrived between 1:30 and 2:00 a.m. -i.e., 11 to 12 hours after Deviney had left the scene. (*Id.*) Consistent with Deviney's standard practice, the hole had been squared off with yellow tape, and was marked by a number of orange cones. (T. 281, 677-78.)

While Marble was climbing into the hole, he was shocked by the then-energized electrical line, and fell to the bottom of the three-foot-deep hole. (T. 179-80, 606-08, 679-81.) After sitting with Hollifield for approximately 45 minutes, Marble got into his bucket truck and drove back to the Time Warner lot; Hollifield did likewise. (T. 184-85, 187-88, 684-85.)

Marble was treated and released from the hospital that night. He was cleared to return to work the next day. (T. 685-86; Ex. D-9.) After some physical therapy, Marble returned to work, working as much as 60-80 hours per week in his first month back on the job. (T. 694-95, 697-99; Ex. D-10.)

C. The Jury Awarded Marble \$2.5 Million, Despite His Extensive And Related Pre-Existing Conditions, And Despite The Testimony Of His Treating Physicians, Which Established That He Was Physically Capable Of Working.

At trial, Marble sought to be compensated for lower back and neck injuries that allegedly resulted from the accident. He claimed that the accident rendered him completely unable to perform any type of work for the rest of his life. (*E.g.*, T. 614, 659, 703.) Marble faced a number of significant hurdles regarding these damages claims.

First, his pre-accident medical history revealed extensive back and neck problems. From 1989 to 2004, he had been diagnosed with multiple lower back injuries. Related X-rays revealed that prior to the accident, Marble had the very same back condition that continued to exist after the accident. (*See, e.g.*, T. 662-65, 673.) In 1994, Marble had undergone surgery on his neck;

his medical records showed that he continued to experience neck problems after that surgery, and before the accident. (T. 614-15, 669-71.)

Marble's claims also ran counter to the opinions of his own treating physicians, Dr. David Collipp and Dr. Michael Winkelmann, each of whom testified at trial. Dr. Collipp was the first doctor to treat Marble in relation to the accident; he began treating him in July 2005. (T. 745-46.) Dr. Collipp testified that Marble's first complaint of neck pain did not occur until well *after* the accident, in October 2005, when Marble reportedly suffered an injury at home. (T. 700, 754-55.) It was this home incident, not the workplace accident, that Dr. Collipp believed was the genesis of Marble's neck problem. (T. 757-59, 763-65, 781.) Dr. Collipp concluded that Marble had reached maximum medical improvement from the workplace accident by October 2005. (*Id.*) Had it not been for the non-accident related neck problem, Dr. Collipp believed that Marble could have returned to full-time work by that point. (T. 764-65.)

Marble ultimately had neck surgery in February 2006. (T. 723.) Nine months later, Dr. Winkelmann, Marble's then-primary treating physician, concluded that Marble was capable of performing medium-level work activities. (Ex. P-15, at 33-38; T. 724-26.) Dr. Winkelmann testified that that he knew of *nothing* that would have prevented Marble from performing medium-duty work, which includes manual jobs requiring lifting of approximately 50 pounds. (Ex. P-15, at 42, 45-47.)

Thus, both of Marble's testifying treating physicians opined that he was physically capable of working after the accident. Even the physician retained by Marble for trial conceded that Marble was capable of performing light-level work activities.⁶ (T. 584-85.)

⁶ Deviney's "vocational" expert testified that medium-level work activities encompass about 30% of all jobs; that sedentary and light-level work activities encompass approximately 60% of all jobs; and that Marble could make approximately \$33,000 per year given the restrictions of light-duty work. (T. 790, 793.)

Marble attempted to overcome these hurdles in multiple ways. In an apparent effort to minimize the testimony of his treating physicians about his ability to return to work, Marble testified that his employer, Time Warner, hand-picked and paid for all of his doctors, sending him only where Time Warner wanted him to go; and that his own financial position meant that he had no choice to see other doctors. (T. 611-12, 614.) Deviney's attempt to impeach this testimony was limited to a proffer of evidence establishing, among other things, that since 2005, Marble's medical bills had been paid *not* by Time Warner, but by private health insurance. (T. 636-38, 653-54.) The Circuit Court did not permit the jury to hear this evidence. (T. 654-57.) Thus, Marble's suggestion to the jury that he had been forced to use Time Warner's chosen – and by implication, biased – physicians went unrebutted.

In addition, Marble relied upon his damages experts, who offered crucial testimony over Deviney's objections. Nathaniel Fentress, Marble's vocational rehabilitation expert, testified that the present value of Marble's future medical costs from the accident was \$690,212.66. (T. 493-94.) Significantly, Fentress also testified that, given Marble's various medications and chronic neck pain, Marble was "totally and permanently vocationally disabled from significant gainful employment or being able to be consistently employed throughout his work life expectancy and/or his life expectancy".⁷ (T. 495-96; *see also* T. 537-38, 541.) In other words, Fentress opined that, in the future, Marble would be unable to hold a full-time, 40-hour-per-week job. (T. 494.) No actual diagnosis supported this opinion: Fentress is not a medical doctor. He

⁷ This opinion, disclosed a mere five days before trial, was an about-face from Fentress's initial opinions, which had been that, as of February 2008, Marble's prognosis of regaining gainful employment was "fair to good". (T. 525-26.) Fentress attributed the drastic change to his understanding that Marble would need to continue taking pain medication indefinitely; and the fact that, four years after the workplace injury, Marble had still not found a job. (T. 526-27, 537.) Although Fentress testified that a prudent job seeker actively applies for 10 to 15 jobs per week, he conceded that Marble had not met that standard, and that Marble had provided him with no details about his job search efforts. (T. 529.) Fentress appeared to recognize that Marble's efforts did not constitute "due diligence as far as searching for alternative employment". (T. 537.)

neither made nor was qualified to make any medical diagnosis of Marble that would have supported his testimony. Rather, he specifically *agreed* with Dr. Winkelmann's testimony that Marble was capable of performing medium-level work activities. (T. 505, 539.) In any event, Fentress did *not* opine that Marble would never work again. He conceded that Marble would "probably make a little money". (T. 537-38.)

Over Deviney's objections, Marble also presented the testimony of his expert economist Glenda Glover, Ph.D. Dr. Glover set the ceiling for Marble's damages for future lost income at \$2.6 million. (T. 426-27, 436.) She assumed that, but for the accident, Marble would have worked full-time until the age of 78, which she determined to be his life expectancy. (T. 426-27, 436.) Her calculations were also based on an assumption that even Fentress refrained from making: that Marble would be *completely* unable to work in the future, and thus, he would *never* earn another dollar from working for the rest of his life. (T. 448-49.)

Relying on this testimony, and after approximately an hour of deliberations, the jury awarded Marble \$2.5 million. (T. 968; R. 308.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

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