### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

### DEVINEY CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, INC.

### APPELLANT

VS.

Cause No.: 2009-CA-01166

### DAVID SCOTT MARBLE

APPELLEE

### APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI, FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

### **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

### Oral argument is not requested

### **OF COUNSEL:**

J. ASHLEY OGDEN, ESQ. (MSE JAMES W. SMITH, JR., ESQ. (MSB # OGDEN & ASSOCIATES, PLLC 500 East Capitol Street, Suite 3 Jackson, Mississippi 39201 Telephone: (601) 969-0999 Facsimile: (601) 969-0089 ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

### **DEVINEY CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, INC.**

#### APPELLANT

**APPELLEE**

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

Marble testified about various jobs he tried to do after the incident over the years, but was unable to do so because of his injuries. T. 622:9- 625:4. Other witnesses testified about Marble's inability to work. See Meg Myers testimony T. 410:20-417:17. This testimony provides more than sufficient facts to support Dr. Glover's expert opinion. It is not required that predicate fact to expert testimony be proved beyond reasonable doubt, but only that it be available in some colorable form. *Flight Line, Inc. v. Tanksley*, 608 So. 2d at 1166. There is a colorable form or basis for Dr. Glover's opinion that Marble will not work in the future from the testimony presented.

Deviney tries to claim that the basis for Dr. Glover's opinion is unfounded, because she testified she received this information from Marble, thus, his attorney and just receiving the information from the attorney and plaintiff means the findings are not legally sufficient. This issue was never raised at trial or objected to by the defendant, so this issue is waived. *Clark v. State*, 40 So. 3d 531(Miss. 2010) (citing *Ross v. State*, 954 So. 2d 968, 987 (Miss. 2007)) (failure to make a contemporaneous objection operates as a waiver of the issue on appeal. An objection must be made with specificity; failure to articulate the grounds for the objection operates as waiver of the issue on appeal). Also, this assertion is misleading. Dr. Glover testified that she gathered her information from Marble, his attorney and from doctor's reports sent to Dr. Glover

by the attorney. T. 450:2-451:4. Based on her review of Marble, the medical doctors' records, and the testimony of expert Fentress, Dr. Glover had a legally factual foundation for her opinions.

### 3. Dr. Glover's Opinion was Timely Provided to the Defendant

Dr. Glover's opinions were timely provided to the Defendant. Plaintiff provided an expert report and the Defendant took the deposition of Dr. Glover well in advance of the trial. See, R. 65-74-Plaintiff's Supplemental Designation of Expert Witnesses; R. 110-117-Economic Loss Analysis David Scott Marble; R. 118-127-Deposition of Dr. Glenda Glover; R. 214-222-Updated Economic Loss Analysis David Scott Marble submitted April 22, 2009 (submitted 12 days before trial). See, *Choctaw Maid Farms, Inc. v. Hailey*, 822 So. 2d 911 (Miss. 2002) (Delivery of data compilation six days before trial admissible where party's expert familiar with this type of data compilation). See also, *Robert v. Colson*, 729 So. 2d 1243 (Miss. 1999) (seasonable supplementation means soon after new information is known and far enough in advance of trial for other side to prepare). Defendant only filed a motion in limine to limit the testimony. R. 211. It did not move for a continuance or move to strike the information, thus it has waived its argument that the information was not timely provided.

Under Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 26(b)(4) a party is required to state the "subject matter on which the expert is expected to testify, and to state the substance of the facts and opinions to which the expert is expected to testify and the summery of the grounds for each opinion." Plaintiff clearly provided the required information in his designation of Dr. Glover. R. 65-74 Plaintiff's Supplemental Designation of Expert Witnesses.

Glenda B. Glover, Ph.D., J.D., CPA, 1031 Whitsett Walk, Jackson, Mississippi 39206. Economist Glenda B. Glover is expected and/or anticipated to testify to all things in her evaluations and opinions regarding the valuation of the life of Scott Marble and as to other things regarding the life expectancy, baseline wage, present value calculations and potential economic value and profitability of Scott

Marble's life and the lost value of his inability to work and support himself and his family due to his injuries along with his inability to work his former cable television maintenance technician job due to his injuries. Glenda B. Glover will also testify to the extent of Plaintiff's injuries and the resulting costs and losses economically.

On or about February 15, 2008 Plaintiff provided Defendant Dr. Glover's Economic Loss Analysis for David Scott Marble. R. 110-117 Economic Loss Analysis David Scott Marble. The Analysis includes the description of assignment, summary of assumption, and conclusions. The Analysis explains her methodology. In addition to the written report, Dr. Glover provided a Deposition on April 30, 2008. R. 118-127 Deposition of Dr. Glenda Glover. In her deposition she further explained her methodology.

Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 26 further provides that a party is under a duty to seasonably supplement discovery. Plaintiff complied with Rule 26 by seasonably supplementing his discovery and expert report of Dr. Glover when he received the information. R. 65-74 Plaintiff's Supplemental Designation of Expert Witnesses. The supplement did not change the methodology or subject matter on which Dr. Glover testified. The supplement did not change the substance of the facts or opinions of Dr. Glover. The only difference was that the supplement added the costs of lost wages if the age was figured at 85, instead of just 65; Dr, Glover's methodology was not altered. Defendant admits that "[Glover] supplemented and her report substantially is unchanged with the exception of the fact that she added – there's a small change." T. 12:6-9. The supplemental report did not materially alter Dr. Glover's opinions and it did not prejudice the Defendant. Defendant could have easily responded to the altered opinion and, in fact, did respond. This was not "trial by ambush." Defendant had already prepared its defense to Dr. Glover's opinions and that defense was not altered by the supplement, because the substance of Dr. Glover's opinions did not change. The supplemental opinion was provided far enough in advance of trial for the defendant to be able to adequately respond.

Deviney did not timely object to the court's ruling to allow Marble to submit evidence of work life expectancy to age 78. T. 17:13-18:15. It did object to the Court allowing the original supplement to allow Glover to use the age 85 and the court ruled in its favor. T. 13-17. See, *Clark v. State*, 40 So. 3d 531(Miss. 2010) (citing *Ross v. State*, 954 So. 2d 968, 987 (Miss. 2007)) (failure to make a contemporaneous objection operates as a waiver of the issue on appeal. An objection must be made with specificity; failure to articulate the grounds for the objection operates as waiver of the issue on appeal). See also, *Laughter v. Williams*, 23 So. 3d 1055 (Miss. 2009); *Derouen v. State*, 994 So. 2d 748 (Miss. 2008); *Haggerty v. Foster*, 838 So. 2d 948 (Miss. 2002); *Barnett v. State*, 725 So. 2d 797 (Miss. 1998).

Defendant argued in motions in limine that Dr. Glover's supplement which provided future loss income for the Plaintiff until the age of 85 was improper because the actuarial tables provide that a white male will only live to the age of 78. T. 12:13-16. However, the trial court ruled that Plaintiff could not present future work life lost wages beyond the Plaintiff's life expectancy according to the actuarial tables, age 78. T. 17:15. The actuarial tables reflect that a white male's average life span would be until the age of 78. Based on the trial court's ruling, Dr. Glover reduced her opinion to include loss future income only to the age of 78 and did not testify that Marble could have a work life expectancy to the age of 85. When the Court limited the testimony from age 85 to age 78, Deviney accepted the ruling and did not object to the Court using the age of 78. T. 17:13-18:15. Deviney's failure to timely object to the Court allowing the Plaintiff to submit the reduced work life expectancy at age 78 now estoppes Deviney from raising this issue. *Clark v. State*, 40 So. 3d 531(Miss. 2010) (citing *Ross v. State*, 954 So. 2d 968, 987 (Miss. 2007)) (failure to make a contemporaneous objection operates as a waiver of the issue on appeal).

Deviney now claims allowing Dr. Glover to provide future lost income to the age of 78 was included in the trial court's ruling on motions in limine and should have been excluded. This argument also is not true. The trial court ruled that there had to be a basis for the extension of the work life up to age 85. T. 17:13-22. The trial court also excluded the testimony of work life expectancy to age 85. T.17:13. Marble did not present evidence to age 85. Marble presented evidence in conformity with the trial court's ruling, reducing the number to age 78, which was the number supported by the actuary tables. T. 436:1-25. Dr. Glover provided a basis for the extension of the extension of the work life and Defendant cross-examined her on this issue.

- Q. Now as an economist, how much literature is out there? How much actual information has come about in the last 20 years to substantiate whether or not the average American black/white, male/female, Mexican, anybody living in this country is quitting at the age of 60?
- A. I mean it's just a lot of literature that just shows first of all, there's social literature that shows that people are eating better and living longer, and they're more medically fit. And secondly the economists have literature that shows that people don't' just retire that early. That even suggested I think it was 59 something. You can round up to 60.
  I'm just saying people just the literature is just fully of that. People don't just retire that early. I don't know how else to put it. And they may have done that 30 years ago, but they whole workforce has changed. People don't retire at age 60.
- Q. So what you've provided us is the ball park numbers somewhere between 65 and 78 for the jury to consider; is that correct?
- A. Yes. I gave them tow things to consider. Age 65 which is a little more common which is more common 65, 68, and then I gave him the 78 because people are working as long as they possibly can.
- T. 455:15-456:14

Deviney claims the court specifically denied the use of Glover's testimony and specifically limited it to the age of 65. This too is wrong. Instead, the trial court ruled it would allow the plaintiff to use the age 78, but would not allow the use of the age 85 unless "you show me at some subsequent time something other than the case where there's data and statistics that suggest that your arguments are correct." The trial court then told Deviney to deal with it on crossexamination. T. 18:3-13. At no time did the court's ruling "logically also exclude unsupported testimony that Marble would work up until another arbitrary age- i.e. for his entire life expectancy through age 78"(Appeal Brief pg. 25,  $\P$  3) as Deviney claims. Deviney's argument is wholly unsupported by the record and should be denied.

# 4. Dr. Glover's Opinion did Not Cause Excessive Damages to be Awarded

Dr. Glover's opinion did not cause excessive damages to be awarded to Marble. Marble's past and future medical bills, his impairment rating and his physical pain and impairments were more than sufficient to substantiate the verdict without considering lost wages. The jury was polled and the verdict was unanimous. A jury is not required to justify to the trial court how they determined their verdict. Instead, the trial court must "defer to the jury, which determines the weight and worth of testimony and the credibility of the witness at trial." Odom v. Roberts, 606 So. 2d 114, 118 (Miss. 1992) (citing Stubblefield v. Walker, 566 So. 2d 709, 712 (Miss. 1990)). Marble presented incurred medical expenses of approximately \$111,000.00. T. 612:29-613:2; Exhibit P-7. Nathaniel Fentress testified Plaintiff's continued care would conservatively be \$690,212.66. T. 524:2-13. Marble's expert, Dr. Howard Katz, testified that the Marble is 34% impaired. T. 560:1-8. Witness, Marie Gulley, testified Marble walks with a shuffle and is barely getting around. T. 462:9-10. Witness, Jill Lovell, testified Plaintiff is impaired and sluggish due to all the medications he is required to take. T.475:17-28. Dr. Winklemann, testified that the Plaintiff has chronic pain that will need to be managed indefinitely. T. 807; Exhibit P-15. Vocational Rehabilitation expert, Nathanial Fentress, testified that the Plaintiff would not be able to work the rest of his life. T. 495:28-496:4. The court has no authority to alter a verdict unless it is so contrary to the weight of evidence that it may not be "reasonably explained." Flight Line, Inc. v. Tanksley, 608 So. 2d at 1161. Dr. Glenda Glover testified Plaintiff's lost wages would be

in a range from \$1,700,000.00 and \$2,600,000.00. T. 426:27-29. Marble presented testimony that he had attempted to work but was unable to due to his injuries. T. 621:28-622:1. Witnesses testified about Marble's inability to work and function. See Meg Myers. T. 412:1-22; T. 473:5 -474:3. In addition testimony was presented that the Plaintiff has suffered greatly due to his injuries. T. -616-620. The jury weighing the all of the evidence allowed, returned a verdict of \$2,500,000.00. T.968:10-18. R. 308. This amount is clearly reasonable considering the facts and evidence presented at trial.

"A trial court may never *substitute* its own valuation of damages for that of the jury's verdict." *Stewart v. Gulf Guar. Life Ins. Co.*, 846 So. 2d 192, 206 (Miss. 2002) (citing *Holmes County Bank & Trust Co. v. Staple Cotton Coop. Ass'n*, 495 So. 2d 447, 451 (Miss. 1986)); *see also, Moore v. M/V ANGELA*, 353 F.3d 376, 383 (5th Cir. 2003). ). The court has no way of knowing what is in the jury's mind. *Gladney v. Clarksdale Beverage Co.*, 625 So. 2d 407 (Miss. 1993). Likewise, the Defendant has no way of knowing what was in the jurors minds and cannot substitute its own valuation of damages. The jury is the trier of facts and determines weight of evidence, not the Plaintiff, Defendant, or trial court. Plaintiff would have preferred a larger verdict conforming to all the evidence he presented. Obviously, Defendant would have preferred a \$0 verdict, but the jury determines the amount of damages. The court must "defer to the jury, which determines the weight and worth of testimony and the credibility of the witness at trial." *Odom v. Roberts*, 606 So. 2d 114, 118 (Miss. 1992) (citing *Stubblefield v. Walker*, 566 So. 2d 709, 712 (Miss. 1990)). The jury verdict here is clearly based on the evidence presented and not the result of bias, prejudice or passion.

Deviney argues that the Plaintiff made reference several times in closing to the \$2.6 million figure and that these references adversely influenced the jury. First, closing statements are not evidence and the court allows attorneys wide latitude in closing arguments. *Alpha Gulf* 

*Coast, Inc. v. Jackson,* 801 So. 2d 709, 727 (Miss. 2001). Second, the Defendant did not timely object to the statements during closing argument, so its claim is waived. In fact, the Defendant made no objections to any statements during Plaintiff's closing argument. T. 928-942 and 960-966. *Burr v. Ms. Baptist Med. Center.*, 909 So. 2d 721 (Miss. 2005) (appeal issue to waived where during closing statement party did not make contemporaneous objection to prejudicial effect of statement). There is no evidence that the jury relied on the lost wages amount. In fact if you add up the numbers- past lost wages of \$111,000.00. T. 612:29-613:2; Exhibit P-7; future medical cost of \$690,212.66. T. 524:2-13; and a pain and suffering cap of \$1,000,000.00 that totals \$1,801,212.66. If you subtract that total from the verdict of \$2,500,000.00, that leaves only \$698,787.40 that was allocated by the jury for lost wages. This number is far below even the lowest number offered by Dr. Glover at \$1,700,000.00. Since the trial court and parties can not second guess the jury's verdict absent some plain error or proof of prejudice the plaintiff receives the benefit of the doubt that the jury followed the jury instructions. Deviney's accusation that Dr. Glover's testimony led to an excessive damages award is unsubstantiated and should be denied.

#### II. The Trial Court's Ruling on Order of Proof was Not Reversible Error

# A. The Trial Court did Not Exceed Its Discretion Under Mississippi Rule of Evidence 611(a), Nor Did the Trial Court Prevent Deviney from Fairly Presenting Its Case and Adequately Responding to Marble's Evidence

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